

Submission

Inquiry into Planning Options and Services for People Ageing with a Disability

Community Affairs References Committee

Terms of Reference

Access to planning options and services for people with a disability to ensure their continued quality of life as they and their carers age, and to identify any inadequacies in the choice and funding of planning options currently available to people ageing with a disability and their carers.

All enquiries related to this submission should be directed to:

Kate Strohm
Executive Director

Siblings Australia

Siblings: acknowledged, connected, resilient.

- a 23A King William Road, Unley, SA 5061
- e info@siblingsaustralia.org.au
- w www.siblingsaustralia.org.au

CONTENTS

PART 1	Introduction
	1) Summary
	2) Background
	3) Siblings Australia
PART 2	Sibling relationships over a lifetime
	1) Impact on person with disability
	2) Impact on siblings
	3) 'Siblings' or 'Carers'
	4) Concerns of siblings about the future
PART 3	Future planning
	1) Sibling involvement
	2) Barriers to future planning
PART 4	Recommendations
	1) Implications for policy and practice
	2) Recommendations
PART 5	References

PART 1 Introduction

1) Summary

Planning for the future is an important task for people living with disability and their families. This submission will focus on the importance of considering the whole family when developing planning options and services. It will not focus on the different planning options and services for people ageing with disability; this will be left for those with expertise in this area.

Adult siblings are likely to be in the life of the person with disability longer than anyone. However, in Australia there is no real attempt to understand the sibling perspective. There is very little data about the number of adult siblings in Australia and the roles they play in regard to supporting the person with a disability over a lifetime. There has been very little research done on the nature of these sibling relationships and the impact they have on both the sibling and the brother or sister living with disability. This submission will argue that there needs to be much greater attention given to siblings when considering planning options and services for people ageing with disability. It will also discuss some of the barriers to families planning for the future, policy implications and recommendations regarding the support of families to undertake this planning.

2) Background

In Australia the majority of adults with development disabilities live in the family home accounting for around 240,000 people (Llewellyn et al. 2003, Dew et al. 2004). This figure does not include those with chronic illness or mental illness. In addition, due to medical advances, the life expectancy of people living with disability has increased markedly in recent times. It is now likely that people with disability will be living longer than their parents, and this will create a number of challenges, not only for families but also the community. Such a scenario may also bring about a number of opportunities for people with disabilities, their families and the community.

A recent focus in disability literature has been the impact of the ageing population on disability service provision. There are large numbers of people living with disability who will, in the near future, need to transition from being supported by parents to being supported by the disability service system or by other family members/carers, or a combination of both. This will create a need to consider not only the changing accommodation and financial needs of people ageing with disability, but also their health needs – encompassing their physical, emotional, spiritual, and social/community participation needs.

With regard to accommodation, there is general consensus that there is an emerging crisis in accommodation for people with a disability who now live at home with parents who are ageing. Little is being done to develop appropriate accommodation options and it is easy to assume that there is some expectation from governments that other family members will identify themselves as 'carers' and will take over when parents are no longer able to provide care. The current generation of ageing parents and people with disability have been given little choice when it comes to care options. However the next generation is likely to demand more from governments and the community in terms of support services for people living with disability.

Current discussions at both community and government level around the issue of 'ageing carers' give little attention to the contribution and role of adult siblings. For people living with disability who have siblings, it is most often those adult siblings who become involved in their future life when parents age and are no longer able to provide the same level of support (Smith & Greenberg 2007; Heller & Caldwell 2006). The sibling relationship will likely be the longest of any. Parents often have an expectation that adult siblings will take over support roles (Degeneffe & Lynch, 2006; Seltzer 1993) and many adult siblings themselves expect that they will take on support roles in the future (Heller & Kramer 2009; Krauss 1993). It is likely therefore that adult siblings will become an increasingly important part of the support networks for people living with disability. As Hodapp & Urbano (2007: 1026) suggest, "it seems critically important to understand the characteristics and relationships of these individuals."

At the same time, studies carried out in Australia (Strohm & Waldren 2010) and the United States (Heller & Kramer 2009) show that many families do not develop clear plans for the future care of the person living with disability. Freedman, Krauss & Seltzer (1997) found that less than half of the families in their research project had developed plans for the future.

The picture this presents is one where many adult siblings are likely to take on a supporting role for their brother or sister living with disability with either no plan in place or a plan that is in place which has had no input from the adult sibling and possibly no input from the person living with disability. This is obviously not the best option for the adult sibling or for their brother or sister living with disability, and it may not indeed ultimately fulfil the intentions held by parents. This situation points to a need for encouraging and assisting ageing caregivers to develop plans and include adult siblings as well as the person living with disability in these plans. The Australian Government's report, *Succession Planning for Carers* (FAHCSIA, 2007), highlighted the fact that planning for the future when a family member lives with disability can be complex and difficult. The Report states that "future planning is a sensitive issue, challenging family assumptions and requiring people to face their own mortality and discuss personal issues and information".

The provision of information to families on topics related to future planning (such as legal and financial issues) would seem a useful strategy for encouraging future planning. However, this alone without further psycho-educational or peer (other family) supports is not likely to result in increases in the number of families actually going on to develop a plan (Preston & Heller, 1996). Models for such processes have started to be developed both in Australia and overseas. Further research is needed into the best ways to encourage all family members to be involved in planning for the future, particularly in an Australian context. The model proposed by Heller & Caldwell (2006) might be a starting point, but it would also need to incorporate adult siblings into the planning process. Part of this research would need to focus on the barriers to such planning as well as the development of best practice interventions to facilitate effective future planning.

3) Siblings Australia

Siblings Australia is a unique national organisation committed to enhancing the wellbeing of siblings of children and adults living with disability. The organisation's mission is to assist siblings to become acknowledged, connected and more resilient. Siblings Australia provides workshops and networking opportunities for families and providers across Australia and overseas. Most of the work carried out by Siblings Australia has had a preventive approach (Strohm, 2008).

The organisation recognises that research and anecdotal evidence supports the view that illness and disability affect the lives of all family members. Understandably, in the early years, significant resources may be spent addressing the needs of the child with special needs. By the same token, research has now substantiated the fact that siblings of these children may themselves have significant needs. Without support, these siblings are at risk of developing longer-term physical, emotional and psychological problems.

Support for siblings, from a young age, allows them to feel less isolated, helps them to develop effective coping strategies, and helps them build resilience. As a result, they will be more likely to develop to their full potential and also to contribute to the quality of life of their brother or sister with special needs. Support at this young age may indeed flow into lifelong benefits, with siblings remaining active in the life of the person with a disability for much longer. Certainly anecdotal evidence from parents of children who have attended sibling programs shows that these children interact more positively with a brother or sister with disability after contact with other siblings through the group.

Although it has focused on providing services and resources to young siblings, their parents and the professionals who work with families, Siblings Australia has, since its inception in 1999, been acutely aware of the role and needs of adult siblings. Early investigation through surveys and focus groups reinforced an understanding that the role of siblings was poorly understood and the needs of siblings were largely overlooked. The organisation has developed some resources and services, but these have been limited in scope due to a lack of funding. One important service has been an online forum for adult siblings, where they have been able to share experiences and information. For many this has been a truly moving experience, to

learn that they are not alone and to finally gain support in sorting through some important issues. In some cases, such support has led to renewed or improved contact with a brother or a sister living with disability.

As well as its own work with adult siblings, Siblings Australia has maintained close contact with other adult sibling services in the UK and the US. The research and support being carried out in these countries has demonstrated and reinforced the need for further work to be done in this area in Australia.

In 2008-9, Siblings Australia carried out an Adult Sibling Project, funded by the Julia Farr MS McLeod Foundation. Whilst this project contributed considerably to the understanding about sibling relationships when one sibling is living with disability, it also highlighted that there needed to be much more research and service development in this area (Strohm & Waldren, 2010), particularly around the needs of adult siblings as both the sibling and the person with a disability ages.

PART 2 Sibling relationships over a lifetime

1) Impact on person with disability

Research suggests that the sibling relationship can contribute much to the quality of life for brothers and sisters living with disability (Smith & Greenberg, 2007). Many people living with disability, in particular cognitive disability, rely on family or family friends to provide their social networks. Adult siblings have a unique position in the lives of their brothers and sisters living with disability, as closeness in age may often result in relationships based on friendship thus extending the social network of the person with a disability. Adult siblings may choose to take on varied roles in the lives of their brothers or sisters thus becoming part of the informal support network for their brother or sister living with disability. One sibling involved in the Adult Sibling Project (Strohm & Waldren, 2010) described siblings and their contributions as a 'silent army'. This unique position enables adult siblings to potentially have an ongoing, meaningful and positive impact on the lives of their brothers and sisters living with disability. As the lifecycle progresses and the sibling may go on to have their own family, other family members such as in-laws, nieces and nephews may also contribute much to the support and wellbeing of the person with disability. These connections may be particularly important to the person with a disability as they age and lose other connections from their youth. In many situations, the support can also be quite reciprocal in nature.

If it can be determined what factors influence the involvement of adult siblings in the lives of their brothers and sisters as well as the types of supports that adult siblings require to remain involved, such services would also enhance the quality of life of people living with disability.

Certainly if there is no consideration of sibling issues there can be quite disturbing outcomes. Siblings Australia has found that some siblings, when relationships become too difficult, move right away from the family, which results in the sibling and their brother or sister living with disability, missing out on any relationship in their adult years. There is a need to understand the issues, and support siblings, both as individuals and also as a support person to a brother or sister living with disability. Strengthening sibling relationships will be of benefit to both the sibling and the brother or sister living with disability.

2) Impact on siblings

Disability affects the whole family. Many siblings of people living with disability are enriched by their experiences whilst growing up. Others face many challenges along the way, both in relation to family relationships and through the reactions of others.

Research has shown that, as a result of their experiences, some siblings may develop anxiety and low self esteem. If they do not access support to cope with the challenges, they are at risk of longer term problems such as depression or relationship difficulties (Burke 2004, Fisman et al 2000, Lamorey 1999, Strohm 2002).

Much of this research into the effects of disability on siblings has focussed on children and young people, but there is evidence emerging that suggests that any effects in childhood can carry through into adulthood. However, there is a lack of awareness of adult sibling issues and there are few services provided for their

support. It is important to understand more about the concerns and needs of adult siblings so that appropriate resources and services can be developed.

Research has long highlighted the poorer levels of both physical and mental health experienced by carers of people living with disability and mental illness (House Standing Committee on Family, Housing, Community and Youth, 2009; McAuliffe, Andriske, Moller, O'Brien, Breslin & Hickey, 2009; Llewellyn, Gething, Kendig & Cant, 2003), including increases in stress and depression (Degeneffe, 2001). These studies have rarely acknowledged the particular needs of siblings in families where parents provide care or support for a person living with disability.

The special report, *The Wellbeing of Australians: Carer Health and Wellbeing* (Cummins et al, 2008) documenting the largest ever survey into the health and wellbeing of Australian carers, found that more than one third of family carers in Australia are severely depressed and/or stressed. In fact carers have been found to have the lowest collective wellbeing of any group yet researched. The survey also showed that the presence of a person in the household who requires care severely compromises the wellbeing of other family members, whether they have primary carer responsibility or not. The Australian Institute of Family Studies report, *The nature and impact of caring for family members with a disability in Australia* (Edwards et al, 2008) reinforced these findings and showed that not only carers have higher rates of depression, but also the other children in the family, especially when a parent has also experienced it.

The ABC's Four Corners program has run several stories on the impact of caring on families. One of these, *The Hidden Army*, highlighted the impact on a young sibling, the lack of support he was able to access, and the tragic outcomes, not only for the sibling but for his family as well. Another more recent program, *Breaking Point*, resulted in a huge number of posts on an online forum. Many highlighted the lack of attention on siblings in the program. (http://www.abc.net.au/4corners/)

It is crucial, when considering the role of siblings in supporting their brother or sister living with disability, across a lifetime, to explore their experiences growing up and into adulthood. The experiences of siblings and the support they are able to access to manage their own challenges will affect enormously their ongoing involvement or otherwise in the life of their brother or sister.

3) 'Siblings' vs 'Carers'

One of the very strong messages from the participants in the Adult Sibling Project (Strohm & Waldren, 2010) was that they preferred to be known as siblings, not carers, to their brothers and sisters living with disability. They did not feel that carer organisations reached out to them in any meaningful way, the literature from such services was not at all sibling inclusive, and siblings themselves did not relate to the term 'carer'. Very few accessed these services. When asked what services they would like, they strongly supported resources and services that were provided by sibling specific organisations and not 'carer' organisations. Carer organisation services are targeted at family members who are providing considerable primary care. Some siblings provide little or no 'hands on' care to a person living with disability. However, they can still contribute much to the well-being of their brother or sister and still be in great need of support, both as children and as adults. In addition, for a whole range of reasons, including dignity and social inclusion, people with disability do not want their brothers and sisters to be known as their 'carers' – they want them to be brothers and sisters first.

Some families see the use of the term 'carer', especially when applied to siblings, as a way for governments to quietly hand over the care of people living with disability to their other family members and, in the process, abdicate the responsibility of the community to support families. A major campaign in the eastern states a few years ago, by the parent run Carer Coalition, demanded that siblings be free to choose a life of their own and that there needed to be a stop in cost-shifting of the unpaid care and support from parents to siblings. This was not about trying to break down family ties and the natural give and take of sibling relationships. Most siblings want to be involved in the lives of their brother or sister living with disability, to have fun together and share in many of the activities that other siblings share, as well as provide support as needed to a brother or sister. However, the campaign focussed on the expectations in terms of 'hands on' caring of people living with disability and the role of governments in the support of people living with disability.

As one parent said on an online forum after the recent Four Corners program, Breaking Point:

I think the government is hoping siblings take on the caring role as parents become not able to. These same people have to establish themselves whilst caring. I know how difficult this has been and not always understood by employers. I am a parent of a child with Autism. I feel this was one thing that wasn't really covered on tonight's program, as good as it was. It missed how "breaking point" affects the siblings who nobly inherit the role of parents who can no longer care for their children for whatever reason.

4) Concerns of siblings about the future

"I have nightmares nearly every night regarding the future of my brother and my mum", adult sibling

A Siblings Australia online survey, along with studies overseas, have shown that many siblings want greater involvement in the lives of their brothers and sisters living with disability, but need more information, networking, opportunities, and supports. Through the online survey, siblings identified a number of concerns regarding the future for themselves, their parents and their brother or sister living with disability (Strohm & Waldren 2010). These included:

- personal costs (financial, time, relations with spouse/partner)
- availability of services (housing, recreation, respite, transportation)
- dividing responsibility amongst family members
- a brother or sister's health, safety, and happiness
- the wellbeing of parents
- juggling their responsibilities for their brother or sister and parents with those associated with their own family
- what will happen when parents die
- concerns about what will happen with their own death
- helping from a distance

Siblings also worry about creating their own independent lives, whether they might find a partner who will share in their responsibilities, whether they should have children themselves and the possibility of any such children having a disability. Unlike many parents, most siblings have not had an opportunity to share these concerns with other siblings.

The survey also highlighted a number of difficulties in discussing family expectations for the future. The following are just three examples of sibling concerns:

Since mum will not approach the subject of future plans or wishes for my brother, I will have to guess.

What are the consequences of my parents becoming older or if they were to die or become very ill suddenly?

My parents assume that she will come and live with me once they go. It's never been discussed.

Some siblings develop very close relationships with their brother or sister living with disability and choose to remain actively involved in their lives, in some cases, leading to shared living arrangements. Others do not choose this course, but are left with no other options, when a parent dies. In some cases, siblings are left instructions in a parent's will about the responsibility they need to assume for their brother or sister. Still others have distanced themselves from their family over time and have limited or no contact with the person living with disability. In many cases, this has come about because the siblings did not receive any support as children to cope with their many varied experiences. Again, if we can strengthen these relationships from a young age and provide supports to siblings across a lifetime, there will be benefits for siblings, for people living with disability, for parents and, indeed, for the whole community.

PART 3 Future planning

1) Sibling involvement in future planning

Planning for the future may involve considerations regarding the following issues in relation to a person living with disability:

- health/medical issues
- accommodation
- guardianship

- financial plans (including wills and special needs trusts)
- identification of future caregivers
- developing a 'letter of intent', which is a non-legally binding planning document that lays out the wishes of parents and/or the person living with disability

Such planning must also include consideration of the emotional and social well-being of all members of the family, including the person living with disability, the adult sibling/s and parents. The involvement of all relevant family members is in this discussion is clearly paramount. This includes involving the person with a disability in the discussion in the ways most meaningful to this person in the context of any cognitive or intellectual limitations.

Few families talk about these issues (Heller & Kramer, 2006; Strohm and Waldren, 2010). Even fewer families involve siblings in discussions. Those siblings who are involved in planning tend to be those siblings who are older, female, and are already involved in disability-related activities. Whether or not families had completed plans, siblings were most likely to be involved in identifying future caregivers and in making residential plans. Siblings were less likely to be involved in formal tasks (i.e., establishing a special needs trust, creating a letter of intent, and establishing powers of attorney for their siblings with disabilities)(Heller & Kramer, 2006).

Siblings want to be included in programs designed to help families of people with disabilities. They want more psycho-educational groups, greater use of internet support groups for long distance siblings, and more information on future planning to effectively transition financial, residential, and leisure responsibilities from parents to sibling caregivers (Heller & Caldwell, 2006; Heller & Kramer, 2009; Strohm & Waldren, 2010).

2) Barriers to future planning

There are many barriers to families developing plans for the future including the reluctance of parents to consider their own mortality, negative experiences with service systems and lack of information.

Little research has been done to date looking at the reasons for this reluctance. It has been suggested that parents do not want to burden the adult sibling with worries about the future for their brother or sister living with disability. However, these ageing parents often do not realise that many adult siblings have been worrying about the future for their brother or sister living with disability for just as long as their parents (Heller & Factor 1991).

Most families do not develop clear future plans for their child/brother/sister living with disability. Some reasons for this include;

- Uncertainty about how to go about the process of future planning and a lack of readily accessible information about planning.
- Adult siblings and their parents may have difficulty engaging each other in conversations about the future.
- Adult siblings may have left-over emotional responses from their childhood experiences which make discussions difficult
- Parents may feel reluctant to involve siblings or the person living with disability in discussions
- Uncertainty about how to involve the person living with disability in these discussions.
- Planning for the future raises sensitive issues such as ageing and declining abilities of parents.
- Parents may be reluctant to discuss financial issues, eg wills, with adult siblings
- Uncertainty about what services are available to the person living with disability.
- Some ageing parent carers may have experienced service systems which were not responsive to their needs and may be used to going it alone.
- Some adult siblings may be concerned that parents will expect them to provide more care to the person living with disability than they are able to provide.
- Some ageing parents may feel that they do not want to 'burden' adult siblings with responsibilities.
- Adult siblings may be feeling resentful of the assumption that they will automatically 'take over'.
- Adult siblings who live interstate or overseas may be unsure about how to be involved at a distance.
- For Culturally and Linguistically Diverse families there may be additional barriers such as the feeling that it is not appropriate to have care provided outside of the family home.

PART 5 Recommendations

1) Implications for Policy and Practice

As parents of people living with disability age and are less able to be involved with services, service providers will likely face a changing scenario, where the family member who will be involved will increasingly be one or more adult siblings.

Siblings have expressed the view that providers often do not respect the adult sibling role or their needs. In order to be able to provide the most relevant services for people living with disability, services will need to adapt to the changing face of family members and to understand the different concerns and needs of these family members over a lifetime.

Many ageing carers have come from a generation that 'accepted what they were given' and did not feel comfortable challenging the services provided. Services are likely to find that adult siblings and younger parents are not as easily accepting of services that do not meet their expectations.

It is difficult to access adult siblings – they are not routinely included in databases or organisation records. In addition, adult siblings who have difficult experiences tend not to volunteer to be involved in research. Recruitment into research studies is usually by self-selection, so adult siblings who are no longer involved in the lives of their brother or sister tend not to be part of research samples. In addition, many siblings are reluctant to seek any support for themselves, seeing their own needs as unimportant. Adult siblings often have limited time and they may simultaneously have involvement with ageing parents, a brother or sister living with disability, and with their own family. At the present time, it is mainly sisters who become involved in services or research and it would be wise to consider how to increase the involvement of brothers of people living with disability.

There are very few sibling specific services and no 'best practice' guidelines for providing services to adult siblings. Carer organisations provide some services that may be appropriate for some siblings, especially those who are providing primary care to a brother or sister living with disability. But, generally, adult siblings do not access 'carer' services, nor do they want to be seen as 'carers'.

Siblings will be in each other's lives longer than anyone else. It makes good sense to understand these relationships in order to provide services that are relevant and timely to the whole family. Like most people, people living with disability grow up in families, and it is these families that provide the most support and care over a lifetime. Anything that enhances the quality of these relationships is good for the whole family, but especially, for the person living with disability. As an emerging area of interest and research, it is important that resources are provided for further research and service development in order to strengthen relationships in families which include a member living with disability.

2) Recommendations

Based on existing research and analysis, this submission provides the following recommendations, grouped under the following headings:

- 1. Policy
- 2. Family support
- 3. Research and education
- 4. Workforce development

Recommendation 1: Policy development

- 1. Policies around planning options and services for people ageing with disability need to include a 'whole family' approach when considering what is best for the person living with disability.
- 2. Governments need to recognise the lifelong contribution of siblings and their particular needs.
- 3. Siblings and their unique perspective should be included when developing policies that will benefit people living with disability and their families.

- 4. Particular efforts should be made to include siblings in policy considerations regarding the issue of 'ageing carers' and to show respect for their unique perspective.
- 5. Siblings should be included in government/organisation agendas as a group separate from 'carers'.

Recommendation 2: Family services

- 1. When developing programs for people living with disability, services need to ensure a 'whole person' approach, eg, health, housing, family and other connections.
- 2. Ensure family support aims to strengthen all family relationships, including sibling relationships, not just parent-son/daughter relationships.
- 3. Include siblings in any programs that target parents or ageing carers of a person with a disability.
- 4. Ensure services respect the unique contribution and perspective that adult siblings bring to the table, through improving sibling consultation.
- 5. Develop pathways for families to plan for the future, ensuring that teen and adult siblings can be in such discussions.
- 6. Ensure appropriate resources for the support of siblings across the lifespan and to sustain the involvement of siblings in the lives of their brothers and sisters living with disability.
- 7. Ensure services are developed that enable siblings to connect with other siblings via face to face or online programs.
- 8. Support Siblings Australia to continue and expand its development of resources and provision of services around future planning (eg website information, online forums, toll-free information line).

Recommendation 3: Research and education

- 1. Develop accurate data about the numbers of siblings and the roles they play in the lives of their brothers and sisters with a disability.
- 2. Promote more research to understand the lifelong concerns and needs of siblings.
- 3. Research the methodological difficulties in conducting research with adult siblings, eg, recruitment.
- 4. Explore differences in concerns/support needs between sisters and brothers of people with disability
- 5. Expand research into the personal support and social networks of people with a disability and their adult siblings.
- 6. Ensure people living with disability and their siblings have a 'voice' in research and program development eg research into innovative models of accommodation support, or best practice models for 'shared care' arrangements.
- 7. Explore schemes to encourage budgeting, saving and financial planning as part of early intervention measures for families and carers with young children with disabilities.
- 8. Support Siblings Australia to be a 'clearinghouse' of research information through its website.

Recommendation 4: Workforce development

- 1. Develop a national collaborative framework for organisations working with families to share information about the lifelong roles and needs of siblings of people with disabilities.
- 2. Develop models of effective collaboration between families and service providers, in order to support providers to reach out to the whole family.
- 3. Develop workforce development around raising understanding of the issues for siblings and how they can be supported to be involved with their brother or sister living with disability.
- 4. Develop practice guidelines regarding the role of different providers eg disability/health.

PART 6 References

Burke, Peter. (2004) Brothers and Sisters of Disabled Children, Jessica Kingsley, London

Cummins, R.A., Hughes, J., Tomyn, A., Gibson, A., Woerner, J. And Lai, L. (2007) "The Wellbeing of Australians – Carer Health and Wellbeing", Australian Centre on Quality of Life

Degeneffe, C. E. (2001) "Family caregiving and traumatic brain injury", *Health and Social Work, 26:4,* 257-268 Degeneffe, C.E. and Lynch, R.T.(2006) "Correlates of depression in Adult Siblings of persons with traumatic brain injury", *Rehabilitation Counselling Bulletin, 49:3,* 130-142

Degeneffe, C.E. and Olney, M. F. (2008) "Future concerns of Adult Siblings of persons with traumatic brain injury", *Rehabilitation Counselling Bulletin*, 51:4, 240-250

Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FAHCSIA), *Succession Planning forCarers, Report on Consultations*, January 2007.

http://www.fahcsia.gov.au/sa/carers/pubs/Documents/SuccessionPlanningReport/Consultations full report.pdf

Dew, Angela, Llewellyn, Gwynnyth and Balandin, Susan(2004) "Post-parental care: a new generation of sibling-carers", *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 29:2, 176-179

Edwards, B., Higgins, D.J., Gray, M., Zmijewski, N., Kingston, M. (2008) The nature and impact of caring for family members with a disability in Australia. *Aust. Institute of Family Studies, 2008.Research Report, no. 16*

Fisman, S., Wolf, L., Ellison, D. & Freeman, T. (2000). A Longitudinal Study of Siblings of Children with Chronic Disabilities. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 45, 369-375.

Freedman, R. I., Krauss, M. W., & Seltzer, M. M (1997) Aging parents residential plans for adult children with mental retardation. *Mental Retardation*, *35*, 114-123.

Heller, T. & Caldwell, J. (2006) "Supporting aging caregivers and adults with developmental disabilities in future planning", *Mental Retardation*, 44(3), 189-202.

Heller, T. and Factor, A. (1991) "Permanency planning for adults with mental retardation living with family caregivers", *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, *96*, 163-176.

Heller, T., Kaiser, A., Meyer, D., Fish, T., Kramer, J., Dufresne, D. (2008) "The Sibling Leadership Network:

Recommendations for Research, Advocacy, and Supports Relating to Siblings of People with Developmental Disabilities".

Heller, T., & Kramer, J. (2006). "Involvement of Siblings of Adults with Developmental Disabilities in Future Planning".

Research Brief. Chicago: Rehabilitation Research and Training Center on Aging with Developmental Disabilities.

Heller. T. & Kramer, J. (2009) "Involvement of Adult Siblings of persons with developmental disabilities in future planning", *Intellect Dev Disabil.*, 47:3, 208-219 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19489666

Heller, T., Stafford, P., Davis, L.A., Sedlezky, L., & Gaylord, V. (Eds.). (Winter 2010). *Impact: Feature Issue on Aging and People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 23*(1). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, Institute on Community Integration. http://ici.umn.edu/products/impact/231/

Hodapp, R., Glidden, L.M. and Kaiser, A.P. (2005) "Siblings of persons with disabilities: Toward a research agenda", *Mental Retardation*, 43:5, 334-338

Hodapp, R. & Urbano, R. (2007) "Adult Siblings of individuals with Down syndrome versus with autism: findings from a large-scale US survey" Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 51:12, 1018-1029

House Standing Committee on Family, Housing, Community and Youth (2009) "Who Cares...? Report on the inquiry into better support for carers", Canberra

Lamorey, Suzanne. (1999). Parentification of Siblings of Children with Disability or Chronic Disease. In Nancy D. Chase (Ed.), *Burdened Children: Theory, Research and Treatment of Parentification*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications

Llewellyn, G., Gething, L., Kendig, H., and Cant, R. (2003) "Invisible Carers: Facing an Uncertain Future", A report of a study conducted with funding from the National Health and Medical Research Council 2000-2002 Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Sydney

McHugh, M. (2003) <u>Special Siblings: Growing up with someone with a disability</u>, Brookes Publishing Company The National People with Disabilities and Carer Council (2009) "Shut Out: The experience of people with disabilities and their families in Australia"

Preston, L., & Heller, T. (1996, October). Working partnerships to individualise future planning for older families from diverse groups. Paper presented at the Sixth Lexington Conference on Aging and Developmental Disabilities, Lexington, TN. Cited in Heller, T. & Caldwell, J. (2006). "Supporting aging caregivers and adults with developmental disabilities in future planning", Mental Retardation, 44(3), 189-202.

Smith, G. C., (2004) "Predictors of the stage of residential planning among aging families of adults with severe mental illness", *Psychiatric Services*, *55*, 804-810

Smith MJ, Greenberg JS, Seltzer MM. (2007) "Siblings of adults with schizophrenia: Expectations about future caregiving roles", *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 77, 29-37.

Strohm, K. (2002) Siblings: Brothers and sisters of children with special needs, Adelaide, Wakefield Press

Strohm, K. (2008). "Too important to ignore: Siblings of children with special needs". *Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health*, 7(2)

Strohm, K. & Waldren, V. (2010). Connecting Siblings Project Report. Siblings Australia

Taylor, J.L., Greenberg, J.S., Seltzer, M.M. and Floyd, F.J.(2008) "Sibling of adults with mild intellectual deficits or mental illness: Differential Life course Outcomes", *Journal of Family Psychology*, 22:6, 905-914